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HAROLD C. GBUHRANMM

Harold ¢. Schramm was born in Bellaire, Ohio, August 29,
1946 to Fred A. and Marthas E. Schramm. He is the youngest of 5§
children, having 3 sisters and 1 brother. At the age of B he and
his fanily moved to Salem, Ohio where he still resides with his
wife Bonnie and children Matt, 19 and Sarab 13. He did minimel

traveling as a child. He groduated from Salem High School  June,

1965  obtained ewployment at The Salem News, and walted fto be

draflted,.

His netice cawe in October 1965. He reported for baslc
tyraining at Fort Xnox, Kentucky Decowmber lst. He went to Fort
Fustus, Virginia for ftrangportation school and was fthe honor
graduate of his c¢lass. His was classified a parts specialist for
light Tthelicopters in supply. Tn April, 1966 he reéeiv@d ordaers
for Vietnam, arrived at Ton Son Nhut Alr Dage in May and  trans-
Ferred Lo the 4th Transporvbaltion Command Headguarters Company  in

downtown Saigon. He lived at the Le Lal Hotel for the weary of

his duty. Tmlike his training, Harold's Jjob was to  check the
manifests and bills of lading for unloading ships in the Tharbor.

His other job was pulling gurard duly at the Hotel and officors
quarters Jocated in the Sajigon suburbs about 3 miles away. Ho
refused an offer of an early dischargs 1¥ he extended 3 months

and left Vietnam April 27, 1967, destination Pittsburgh. He



reported Lo Fort Koosx, Rentucky for 6 months to await his  dig-

charge. Hore, after his rank and duty time in Vielnan, he was

smh of  other

gilven KP  {(kitchen detall}. This along with a1
ingults and the lack of respect by the generval public towsrd

Vietnam veterans has left & hitter tasts in Harold's mouth, e

"wished thoy [politiciansg! a botter job on the war, we have

the stamp of losers”
He attended Xent State University and is cuployed as Assist-
ant  Vige Proesident for The Home Invings angd Toan Cospany  of

Youngstown, Ohio. He is o member of Lthe Salen Hunt  Club  and

enjoyas huniting and shooting.
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This

the

L5, 1981, at 4:15 p.m.
Harold, T'd  like to ask yvou where vou wers  bhorn
where you weye valged.

g1 T was born in Bellaire, Ohio, August 29, 1946, but
grew up in Salem, Ohio. We moved there when I
apout five years old.

[ About five?

L Sure,

P Is Rellairse very Far from Salem?

5 Bighty wmilces. Tt's down on the river, near

West Va.
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Nid yvou travel much when yvou werse growling up?
W
Neo?

Mo, T lived in the same town, same house. Other than
vacations, there was never any btraveling done.

You took o vearly vacation with your Family?

We tricd to, but it wasn't anything special. Ono yearyw,
we  wenil Lo Washington , D.C. One yeay, woe went o
Michigan. T have a agigter in Chicagoe, and we'd go  out
to mce her. We got to travel around a little bit.

Aut, net that much., You were bagically a hometown boy.
Small Lown, hometown bhoy.

You stayed around the area most of your lifa?

Yem.

Tell wme somebhing about vour growing-up veoars.

T don’'t think they were asyihing remarkable. I would
have called ug poor, bul T think the truth wouild be
lower middle class, Bub, 7 was the youngest of five.
T bad three older sisters and an older brother, and T
think it was a pretty normnl childhood. Had zome Tun
and got into sonme fyrouble, bhubt nothing serious.

Did yvou live in the cocity, oy move in the country?
In the oity.

In the oity.

T wag what parents might describe am an ovnery kid.

You still are. Tell ne about your school days. I3id
you oo to eollege right after high achool?

Ho, T graduated high school, and again, becauss wWe wero
poor, T went immediately to work. I got a job at the
Salem News right out of high school, and was waiting
Ffor the draft. At that point in time, T graduated iIn
Juna  of 1965, and that was Just at the peak of the
build-up Lo Vietnam. Hveryone who didn't go to col-
lege, vou knew you were going to get drafted. That was
what vou did then., You graduated from high school and
joined ths Army, or vou graduated from high school and
went  to college. 1§ vou wanied to take your chances,
you Just galt around and waited until the draft got vou.
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The draft got me.
Tt did? When 4id it got to you?

I graduated in June, and T got ay physical notige dn
]

Ocotohar. T got drafted the first day of Decanbar in
1965, Which, T think is also intevesting, a sign of
the times, in that, vou coeouldn’'t sit arocund for more

than a few months and they grabbed vou,
That's Lrue. S0, you lefi Just boefore Christwas?

Yen, That was also strange. 1T sald good-byve Lo every-
body. T had a girlfriend, who is ny wife now, bult she
was a girifriend then. T gald good-bye to my parvents,
good~hye to her, and left for Fort Enox December Ist,
and I was home by the 21lst. Threo weeks later, thoy
gave uz Christmas leave.

Ni¢ thoy weally?
Yon, thalt was Crazgy.
From hagic btralping?

Yaah, right fo fthe middle of hasic hraining, they sont
ug howe for Lthros weeks.

T never heard of that.

T know, that's what I say, yvyou kaow, so, blzrare,
gtrange. . . .

So, vou were drafred into the Army.
Yeas.

And, did yvou go vight from bhasic to Vietnam, or did vou
do olther things?

Well, they had what they call advanced training. 1E
you were combat, they have advanced combat training. 7T
wont  to what they oall transportation school. Apd, T
was trained to he a parts gpecialist for light helicop-
ters, and that sounded 1like a vretbty useful, what They
call MO8 {(Milditaery Occupation Specialty). But in  the
Eypical Avmy fashion, that's not what I did. When I
got over to Vietnan after advanced fraining, they
assigned me to a Stevasdore-tyvpe company, which was
overgeeing the unloading of ships.

Big dAifference from parts.

Wall see, the Avay didn'it think so. Transpeortatnlion is
transportation, soo. But, it alweys botherod we a

o
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1ittle. T was the honor graduate of my olass,
Were you?
Angd, T went to Fort Fustu Viwginda. {(We called 1t

Fort Usnless). T was tra 1@6 a a parts specialist, T
wasg an  hoonor graduate of ny class, and never worked in

a supply bkullding, never Touched a light helicopter
payvit, had noi ving what zio over to do with utj!FODiv“

oy  supply. ul anyway, chronelogically, T think it'=m
interesting. I gob drafted Decenber 1sih, grdduaf‘ﬂ

from basic training February 5th, 1966, went to Fort
Fustug, Virginia. A&After basic I had about a two wéek
leave, and gob my orders from Vietnam in April. T was
in Vietnam the {irast day of May.

Really?

Yes, @0, 1ike I sav, T got drafted in December, went
through bhasic, which took aboul two or three months,

and that was ancother thing. They acceelerated thai,
that ig supposed to be a twelve week thing. Ve  werc

going night and day for training. They were yushing.
They were getlting this tremendous builld up, and they
were just processing and moving people.  Bo, T went to
advanced training for about six weeks and took a leave
nefore T went to Vietnam, goi married. . . .

Did yvou get married before you wenl?
And left, all within a span of, what five months?
Five months? T had ne ides that went that way for you.

You know, they were Jjust burning, and 3Just pushing,
pushing, pushing te gelt the people over there.

Well, T wanted to ask vou what your hasgic teaining was
like and when vou got your orders and why they Just
sean Lo coincide.

Well, basic training. . . . I don't know. . . . T
guess it was one of those love-hate things. T grew up
in middle America, small town. My father was not  in

the wmilitary. He was too 0ld. He had too many  kids
when World War IT broke out, but all his byothers, and
all mwmy Uncles, and all ths older people that we knew,

all the men sevved in the military. Agsain, we wore
pooy. We weren't pooy white trash, what they c¢all it

today, hut we weren't anywhere noar wniddle c¢lass. You
agraped  yvouy whole way along. It wasn't just true for
my dad and his family. Tt waz forxr hy mothers family
and evaryhoﬁy we Fnew. We were all widdle o¢lags,

struggling like hell. But, all his brothers served. I
was named after an uncle that was killed in World War
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TT. 7o was killed dn 1944, T was born din 1946. And,
wr had this tradition of soeorvice, T Just koew thalt when
my turn came T would serve, gladly and proudly.

Did you?

Yo, But, Vietnam was a strange war, voun  know, The
protest had not yolt come on real strong in 1965 aond
1966 when T first went dn. The Army was & love-hate
thing for me. T mean, I loved some of Lhe things that

we  did, buh other things they Jdid were so  stupid. ki
mean, some of the orders and some of things that you
had te do in the military was  Just vediculous. It

makesn you wonder how we could ever win a war with
people likoe that in charge. But basically, T was proud
to serve and T 4did the best T could, though T was
miserable and homesick.

Werse you?

Oh, vesn,

T wanted to ask you how it felt being sway from hono
for the first time, T mean, even though you went on
vacations?

Yes, but T pew: Left the family., I never went any-
where  withoub someong, 1likoe my mother or father, you

know, somoonhe.

and, & complete different avea. T mean, Kentuoky,
Vivginia ave go different from our arvea.

Oh, vyes, Well 1like T say, it was & sonse of wondor.
Amazing. I dust couldn't Inmagine. T adapted well, bhut

T would have loved to have sepen myself. T T could go
hack now and look at this bumpkin, rumming around,
doing what he was told most of the fLime. . . . Bamla
tyaining, I wanl to may, was a Jdoke, bhut, T don't know.
Typical military. . . . Herve's just an example. I  am
a good shot with a rifle. My Father and my family were
211l hunters. We bhave bheen involved with firecarss, eover
gince wo were small, and trained o handle them =safely
and wisely. T was totally familiar with firearms, T
went through bagic training, listened to what they told
me, did whalt theyv told me, sholt well. It came to  the

day boefore we had to fire fovr record, for official
designation. My wifle broke, The sight breke off,

They repaired it, bul thoe sebting was totally different
than what T had. Norvmally, I'd gsel my rifle sight to
goe  up twenty colicks, and twenty clicks to the right,
and that adiusitanent would make my rifle shool perfectly
at that sect distance. . . . That was {fine. The morn-
ing of record five, T got up. Instead of setting the
new setting, which was btwenty olicks up to  the right
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and thirty to the left, I went back and d4id the old
one, It was Just a dumdk ass mistake. Bo, I shot
record, and the only targets T could hit were the very
cloge ones. They'd o up. You'd shoot  them. ‘Then,

they'd Fall back down. Bul, anything beyvond that (and
T think it was like thirity vards awav). T4 was not

very far. Anyvthing out as fer am a hundred vords,
hundred and F£ilty, two hundred, hreo hundred vavds,
T'd missg completely. T was just frustratod. T could-
n't understand it. When T got back o the barracks, I

gaid Lo wmyself, "Now, what in the worlid is going on?"
Then I had realizced what T had done. T had set the
wrong setting, and the rifle was only shooting where I
had set it to shoot, which was nowherse near where it
was supposed to be shooting. So, I went to ths sar-

geant, and T explained to him what T had done. He told
me that 4f T failed I would have to redo Basic. Tt was
& two day shoot, the First day and sccond day. T T
Ealled the second day, ¥ would have to go hack to the
very  begioning of basic tralning, and staxt  all  over
again. We were Llike siz or elght weeks down the road
noey,

.

Just for g osmall mistake?

Well, it wes a small mistake, bul it was a mistako.
And, it was my mistake. This man told me that  4f 71
ailﬂd to guaiify oo the second day, that ¥ would ha
to go bhack toe the begloning and 5tart all over again.
Wall, the Ffirst day, we shot Llike wighty targets, and T
missed wmaybhe seventy of them. The Qauﬁﬂ day, we wWore
only shooting 1ike forty targets, but to gqualifyv, T
would have to hit mavhe thivty-five of the forty to get
a scorve low enough jusi to gualify. Well, needlesz Lo

gay, the negxt day, I wenlt out, T shot ny ass off.

Nid you?

T hit thirty-aine out of forty, or something like that.
T gualified, bhut barely. Juat barely gualified. Some

of my friends, the people I went in with and madoe
friends with, failed toe gualify dey one and failed to
gualilfy day two. 8o, of coursge 7 Lthought they had Lo
start basic over again, buf, ne. EBvery day, for the
next two weaeks they went to the range and shot gll over
again, until they gqualified. They never had to go
back. They never had to try it again., Now, T was so

wmad  because my father and my brother and wmy unoles
wanted to know how I did at the rifle range, and I got
the Jowest rabting bthere was. A marksman. And, T

should have shot expert, as I wanted to and 4&id  Lhe
second day. But, the bastards lied to me, and they did
that all through the military. Bvery time your got
faced with a situation somebody would lis to vou, =0
vou would deo something stupid, or vou would worry or

6
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vou would fret or wonder if vou were Jdoing the right
thing.

Yas.
And, it pligzed me ofif.
Sure.

Now, it occours to me that the couple of guys in  ay
company who 4id shool expert, all went infanlry.

Did they really?

Weell, they had no choles., Thoy were asslignad.  So, noy

T ®it back and T wonder. My pride was hurit, and I
wanisd to shoot expexrt. DBub, had T shot experit, maybo
T would have been assigned to an infantry company
vather than a {ransportation outfit.

b

That's right.

And, T may have gobtien my hutt bhlown off, so T don'l
know. Soma  times it's hard to tell how things are
going to work out.

That's truce. They did.

But, that's been my experience with the military, is
that they lie to vou, and they mislead yvou.

When yvou gobt assignoed to Vietnam, where did vou go?

Tan Son Nhut Adr Base, which wag Just outside of Sai-
gOn . T lived oul there in a tent Ffor aboul two weeks,
and then they ftransferved me into the 4th Transporta-
tion Command, head guarters company, downtown Saigon.
We lived at the Lo Lal Hoitel, that's 2 hotel bullt by
the Vietnamize. The U.8. Military rented it or rtonk it
aver, turned 1t into a bavvacks, and added harbed wire
and what looks like a basebhall backstop toe yvou, but it
wags made of hurvicene chainlink fencoe clegar up Lo  the
gecond  floor. So, that no one could throw a bhombk in
YOUY room.

Raally?

Well, you couldn’t throw a hand grenade up that high,
and, it had sand bag barricades all around. But, I
Tived in bthis hotel for the whole vear.

You wera there a year?

One year.
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one year.
1t was a good place to be.
Oh, yvos.

When we first got there, there were ftwo men Lo a  room,
and we had the regular hotel furniture, with two hads,
dressers, Just like any cheap hotel, anyvwhors. Bvery-
body had their own mamasan, which was an 0ld woman who,
For o couple of bhucks a month, would ¢lean thoe room,
meke yvour boed, shine your shoes.

Really?
Yes, it was previty good duty. After about thryee

months, they doubled tho population of the hotel, and
we had to get rid of the hotel Ffurniture bhecause thero
wasn't room for it. And, they put din GI  bunks and
footlockers.

o you wenit from. . . .

t wasn't guite as good thean. Now, we had four guys to
room. We worked. There wag Lwo shifts. There wag a
day  shift that worked 6:00a.m.to 6:00p.n., and the
ight shift that worked 6:00p.m. to 6:00a.m.

o g

o i

Twelve hour shifts?

Twelve hour dayvys, that's all yvou worked, and youn got
one day off every ton.

nid you?

And then, after a few months, yvou golt aboul one day off
a weelk, Generally Sunday, yvou got off. But, I'd get
up  in the norning, shower and geb dressed, run out in
front of the hotel, cateh a bus.

The bus. . . .

The bus would take us bo another hotel thait had a

regtaurant-—our hotel 4didn't have a restaurant--and
we'd go in and order breakfast. Breakfast was fifty
cenlts, You could get anyithing yvou wanted to eat, as

much as you wanted to eat.
This is military food?

Military food. But again, they used Vietnamese odvil-
ians whenever Lhey could. So, they had civilian cooks
and waliters and waltresses and. . . 1t was Just like a
hotel restaurant. So we ate there every day, and  then
we had to go to work. I worked in an office with amn
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American Army Captain and a Vietnamesc wman and =iz
Vietnamese givis. And, our jobr was to check the ®Bills
of Lading--which ls the manifest of the ship, all  the
cargo--conpare that to thoe Lills that we had received

From the Vietnemese Stevedore companioes. They wonld
hill us so many hours and go many men for unloeading all
thisz oguipment, and we were to matceh those and  then

-

apnrove  the bills fov payment, if we felt the charges
they had billed us for were reasonable. T was a Jjoko.
T hadn't the glightest idea what the hell was invelved
or  bhow many men ¥ talkes to unlosd a tank.

And, how would yvou know Just by a plece of paper what
wag actually on the ashin?

Wall, we had the manifest of what was on the ship. We'd
check it against the Hill. But mosl of these Stevedore
conpanies were owned by Frenchmen Living in Vietnam,

Werse they?

And, they had Vietnanese laborers and workers. Qi
nally, when T first got agsigned to this job, my Job
wags a ¢arge chocker. I'd have to stand out  there op
the ship, and ag the items came off, I would check thom
of f  on the List. Well hell, it's 110 degrees . in  the
shade out there. It's just very peoor working condl-
tions, I was out there aboult a week, and T ran intoe =&
Jieutenant. I was a private at the time, His namc was
houtzonhiser., I said, "Sir, excuze me, but T greyw up

next door to a Loutzenhiscr from Ohio.” He =maid,
"Where?” T osaid, "Salem.™ He said, "Uncle Diak!® He

was from Youngstown.
Really?

And, mo we had a rounion of sorts, and he said. . . .
He exmplained to me That T was much tooe  smari to  be
standing oul here In the sun, that hs cught to get me
ingide 4in the office. And, that's how T got the Jjob
that T had.

Really?

So, that’s the other thing I found ouf about the Army.
You have to know sonohody, and somebody has  to  like
vou, seort of Like 1t ig hevre.

You got it.

S0, T 4id that for a whole year.

You were there one year? Full yoar?

T left California on April 30, landed in Saigon on May
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2. They still owe me May 1, 1966. I never lived that
dayv. When 7 crossed the date line, T guess they think
they pald me back on the way home, T left there April
27 in the afterncon and lapnded the morning of the sans
day back inpn Pittsbuwrgh., It was bizzare.

Yeu.

T don't know how that works.

No carly out for you.

Well, they oifered me an early out. What they did, the
Army  sald if T would extend my tour for three months,
they would give me an early out plus thirty days Ieave.

Plus, T wag an -4 21 the time. They would make me an
E-5, which would be the same grade as sergeant, and T

wasg, T don't know, whati theyv c¢all a specialist. But,
by this time, I dldn’'t trust thoe Army or believe them.

T decided Lo gel me the hell out. After T went home,
apent & few weeks with my wife and family, thea T had
toe go back te Fort Knox for the next six months  to
finish up ny two vears.

Did you?

And, Y wish that T agreed to stay in Vietnam for anpoth-
er three months. I Just didn't trust them.

T ecan't blame yvou. T undewvstand that.

Whoen I was at Fort ¥nox, living down theve in & trailern
park with my wife, a couple of things happened. Due,
my firsgt day back frowm overseas, I came back. I spont
gome  time at heome with my wife, weported for duty,
walked into the ready room where the filrst sergeant sat
and the company oclerk, and reporited for duty. Now, I
was an %~4, which wag no big deal. Tt was the sams as
a c¢orporal. T had almost a yveavr in grade so T was an
I~4 with grade. T come back from Vietnam. T spent ny

time. T walked inteo the room, raporiad, and the
conpany  <lerk zsaid, "First Sergeant, hoeve's a man  for
Kp." They put me on XP ay very first day back in  the

aclive servige.

No six!

That was a dirty deal, as far as T'm concerned,

An insult.

Yea, every coupls of montbs, your name came up on  Lhe
roater that you had to pull XP, which is a dirty,

grudgy Job. Cleaning, waltling on other peopls. You had
te be there at 6:00s.m., but if you got there at

10
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6:00a.m., you got the dirtiest Job of all, which was
pots and pans. S what happened wag, guvs just started
going in at two or threo In the morning so they could
be the dining room orderly, which all he had to do was
wallt on the officers. Well bell, I'm not getting up atb
two  dn the morning to kiss anybody's butt smo T always
gol pots and pans.

What were vou doling?

Well, wou sastay in the back of ihe kitchen, Nobody
bothers wywou. You just worlk, and they let you go about
soven or eight that night, after working you like a
slave. Thern,  yvoun were off the hook for a couple of
months. Well anyvway, T weas scheduled for EP on Wednes-
day, and T kanew it. I lived off-post in a trailer with
my wife, which cost $110 & month. My pay check, at the
time, was 5110.03. Bonnie got a check for 140, which
was my allowance plus what the government cherk was, =50
we lived on 5140 a month., Anyway, T reported Wednesday
morning for KP, and they sment me to the first sorgesant
hocause T wasg AWOL. T was absent without leave, and I
was walilting to sec the Captain. and, T couldn't figure
oul hew or why they had me ag AWOL., 8o, T wenit in to
gee the Captain. He =aid, "Well Schramm, where were
you vesterday?" T sgald, "T was at work, doing my Army
joh.® He sald, "You had KP yestevday.” 1 sald, "No
sir, I have KP today,. T'm here. " Y Wo, Smith or Jonos
or  samebody dgob sick., Your name was woved up,” he

zaid, T oasld, "Well, T wead the hulletin bhoarvd Monday
and gaw that XP on Wednesday., . . ." He said, "Is
there a standing order that you're to read the hulletin
board every day?Y I smapid, "Yon siv, there dim."

Thirty—-twe dollars fine, which dig Like a third of ny
pay, two weeks extra duty, which meant XP every day,
two weeks assigned, restricted to gquarters.

o that means you couldn'ft go home to your wife.

T aald, "Sirx, I live off base." He asald, "Alxight,
stay in your yard."

Mol

Yas, 1 mean, unbelisvable, Just uanbellevable. S0,
because of that, T didn't get a good conduct medal,
which everybody gets 1T theoy don't gelt in throuble.
But, T got an Article 15, a nmisdemeanors in the Army.

Harold, thalt's uwnreal.

T mean, I don'l know who's going te listen to this, but
al1l they do is screw with vou coustantly.

One of =y guestions was what nmajor events stand out

13
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during this time.

Oh, vwves, the Arwmy, Just how they mess with vou. Ti's
unbelievable how thoy mess with yon.

on a daily basis?
On a dailly basis.

When you were in Vietnam, whot images of home did  you
carry with you?

T had pictures of my wife. She wroite ne everyday.

nid she?

It was real nlee. She'd nunher the lelbters. She
startaed off with 365 and was working her way down, T
think number one actually got to me after T was bacgk
home . The thought was real nice, of course. We woere
newlywaeds. Wo got married, and about ten days afiter we
got married, T shipped cut. That was nice. Thig is
how selfish children are, whan vou think about it,
Ronnie and T were high school sweethearts, fine. Iz
seomathing happened to me, I would like her to have that
GI  dinsurance. Tt was 310,000, Totally dgnoring nmy

parents, who had raised me, given me overything that
they had, what was I thinking of? I mean, to hell wiih
them. I was giving it all to this little girl, who
they didn't knew from Adam, T mean. T don't know why T
thought that was guch a noble thiang. But back  tThen,
people didn't live together. AL leasi, not in my small
town. Wot din my family. So, we got married hecause
that was tThe only way we could spend thoso last few
dayes fogsther, and oights. But, we're still married.
And, 1t's been twentyv-six vears, so I gusss T mads  the
vight choice.

You did!l
What wag the question?

Whalt images of home 4id you carry with you when you
wers there?

Parenta., . . I don't know what happens when you fturn
fiftesn, sixtesn, szeventeen, you don't really care
abhout wvouxr parvenisz anymere. My mother wrote Lo =ne.
T'd wyrite back, and tho Red Cross called me and said to
write more often. No, T wasn't much of a writer, bul I
did write to my wife gquite often, not guite every day.

Did  you think aboul your roowm or youy house or  your
honetown?

1
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Yasg, my mom was real good and so was Bonnie about keep-
ing me informed of what was golng on. One  off  the
strangest things happened, bizgzare. You'll love this
ong.,  "Bilzzare things that happened.' There was a Jid
Lhat T had grown up with. His name was Laryy  Crunbalk-

o1 Larry was a year older than me, bul we were in
Sunday School class together. ¥We were in  bhoy scoutls
togelher. We had shared a fLent at summer camp. Hisg
dad was the scout leader. [Larry wos al Nice kid, real
nice kid, gquiet, shy. He joined the Marines. Why,

T'11 mnever know. He was nob your typical, gung-hoe typo
Marine kid.

Was he drafted and Joined afler he golt drafted--or 4id
he enlist?

T think he jeined up. T'm pretty sure he Jolned. Well
in any event, I had lost track of Larry, but T knew he
was in the service. I'm sitting in a snack bar, T
guess you could call it, in Saigon. Got a letter from
my wife, and T got a letter from my mobthsy, so I read
the letter from my wife first. Thon, I opasned up  the
lettor  from home, and out fell a noewspaper olipping.
Opened it up, and it's Larry's picture. He had been
killed in ac¢tion.

Raally?

About two weeks carlier. Now, it's alwayes bothered ne
that TLearry and T were in the same country, & Few hun-
dred miles apact probably. He wax up norvth with  the
Havines. I was down =zouth with the Army. But, he
died. That news wenlt all the way back to Balem, Ohio,
and 1t had to come all the way bhack to Vietnam for me
to find out. It was only aboult two weeks before T left
to come home.

Really?

Tho first Sunday, oot the first day back, but the very
gecond or  third dey back, I wenlt to church with wy
family. And, the First guy T run into ig Larry's dad.
How did wvou Tael about it?

Better than I am now.

TL's akay.

I don’t know what the hell he was doing in the Harincs.
He  had no buginess being in the Marines. He was notb
the gung-ho, killer-animal that we all kaow make good

Marines.

That's where they put him.

13
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Well, T don't think he got drafted. T think he enliste

ad. T think his moether had committed suicide maybe a
vear or &0 hefore he graduated from high school. T
think that possibly messed him up. I den't  know. T
think, like 2 lot of kids, he wanted to prove soms-
thing. He wanted to show somebody sgomething, and he

died tryving.

Yesq.

But, thal was s0 sirange.
Something else,

Tt was &0 hard, yvou know, to sce his dad, and I'm hero.
and, Loz v was dead. T had a plece of cake jok. T had
it esasvyv. The whole vear ai Vietnam was Just  boredom,
to me. And, here was this man, and his son had given

it all.

Was it boring?

Yes, homesick, putting up with the Army and their shit.
T hated the Army! T liked Saigon. T was 1iving in one
of the largest cities in the world.

Was it relatively mafe?

Oh, ves, that was early in the war. That was early

on, and Salgon is a heavtiful <ilty. . . . The poo-
ple. . T liked {he Vietnamese people, T really

did. But, it was a beautifnl city, and the war had not
come to the c¢ity. The night of TET, that's what avery-
one talks about, TET. Ss&, theyv're talking about TET
1867 was the night the Vietcoong and the North Vietna-

maese attacked? T was G {commander of guard}, the
night of TET 1966. My job, and thal was guite a treat

for me bhoecause T hardly got to do anything worthwhile,
but I was commander of the guavrd that night. 2And, it
always occurred Yo me that throuvgh good fortune, orv
whatever, 1f I had gone to college for one year and got
in there one yeay lateyxr, T would have been commandeyr of
the guard, paerhans the night of TET 1967, and gotten wmy
ass whipped because that was a very bad night. 1
misged that by an entire yeayr. Thalt was another thing,
talking about the Army. When we pulled guard, we'd
pill  guard right there at the Le Lai Hotel, and then,
we alazo had to pull guard at an officer BOQ, which is a
bachelor officer's guarters. 8¢, they put us in &
Jeep. They would dyive us two, three miles out in  the
auburbs of Saigon, and it was our Job Tor twoe hours Lo
walk up and down on the sidewalk in front of this BOQ
with a weapon. You were allowed Lo have a «olip of

ammunition In bthe weapon, bul you weren't allowed to

14
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nave a shell in the chamber. 8o, in other words, you
couldan't shoot anvbody gulckly if you had teo. But, you
had  ammunition. If you really neaded it, you could
load wyour weapon. S50, 1t occurred to me, when you'ne
walking guard, at two in the morning, that what the
hell an T doing here? There was absolutely nothing T
could do., And then, T realized that the only thing I

conld do was gebt kiiled, and perhaps 1T the officars
insgide heard me go down, they could then run out  tha
bavk door begause they sure as hell couldn’'t have done
much else. Tt was so patheiic and so ridiculous. But
there again, that's the Arxny's mentality. Bettar {0

gacrifice one private than mayvbhe a dozen officers.

Now, would they come Lo check yvour weapon and be sure
there wasn't something in the chanbexr?

Yos.
They would?

O, ves, the Arny. . . . They were alwayvs screwiog
with vyou. That's part of the going on and off duty.
You had Lo pregsent vour weapon and everything else,
Typical Army. They blew up a hotel yight around the
corner from us. Tt was an Air Force Hotel. They pul a
pomb on the roof and blew the top three or four flcors
vight down to the bottom, and killed aboult elsven guys.
Every onco inm oa while, a rockeb would come in, or a
mortar attack would come in. We could watch the war.
At night, we used to show movies on top of our hotel.
We Thad bullt a drive-in-theater—-type thing with a
screen  and  benches on the roof. Tt was a tropical
country, beautiful country; although, it was hotter
than hell during the day. Nights were very pleasant.
So we'd go up on the roof and they'd show a movie,
usually c¢lass B, grade B movies that, today, vyou

wouldn't even c¢atch on the Late, Late, Labte, Show
around here. But, at least It was something f{to do.

But, the war would often interfere. The Alr Forcoe had
something they called Puff the Magic Dragon, which
was a C-~130 with these electric machine guns, mini-guns
on them. And, they'd fly off not teoo favr from us, drop
# few flares, and then, thay’d hose down the c¢ountiry-
side  with machine gun fire. Or, they'd call in dive
hombers, sometimes. S0, we'd shui fthe movie off and go
watch the war becauses 1t was nmore interesting than the
movie. Meost attacks would last a half an hourn, or s5O.
and, the flares would go out, and planes would fly
BWAY .

Go back Lo your movie,

Go haok to watcehing the movie, The other thing I think
that 45 fair to peoint out is that, my first three
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months in Vietnam, I nearly bocame an alcooholic.

Really?
Wo'd get off work. We'd work six to six. We have now
worked Ffor twelve hours. We'd gebt off work, Curfew

was at 11:00 p.m. so yvou had to he in your hotel or
barracks, or wherever you were asgigned, and off the

stroels. Fvaryone nad to bhe off the strects alt  11:00
DL So, we had about five hourg to kill there. So
we'd go to one of thess hotels and order dinner. Now,

dinner costs twoe dollars. It was ralher expensive, butl
again, vou had the cheoice of whatever disg on the menu.
Well, not exacltly. They had two or three items that you
could  pick fivom, The food wasn't very good. We would
egat, and then we would go into the bar. Beer was ten
conts,

Ten centz for bheer?

Mized drinks were twenty cents. Well, what we would do
ig. . . after dinner, thres or four or five of us, wo
would Just give the liitle Vietnamese bar maid a dol-
lar, and tell her to bring us five screwdrivers, each.
The reason being there, that orange juice and vodka is
about the only ihing they couldn't scorvew up. S0, she
would briong a tray with perhaps twenty-five drinks  on
it

Really?

Staggering under the welight of this tray, and =t it
down. And, we'd sit there and just procesd fo get
totally shit  faced every night, every oight, night
after night. And, eventually, T camo to ny scenscs and
guit, bult T suspect there arve a lob of guys cul ftherc

wandering around today who stlill have a problem. And,
T'11  say scomething else while we'we talking about it,
too. Cigarettes were celeaven coents a pack, donated, T
sugpect by the tobacro companies. Well, we were wva-
tioned to 8ix cartons a menth. That's all you were
allowed to buy. That's a hell of a lot of cigaveites.

So, for 36.60 I could buy encough tobaccoe to give myself
cancer. As it turned out, I gave myself a Leart attack
when T was thirtyv~five and was thoroughly and totally
nooked on oigarettes by the time I lefh Vietnam,

And, vou never smoked befiore you wenh?
T started snoking in the Avrmy. Back to the Army again.
These people, I love them, "Anyone in this room smoke?

Okay, vyou men who smoke go take a ten minute break.
The  rest of you guys keep working.™ "B8hit, I'm a
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smokaor man. Lot mae oul of herel”
T guass 850,

¥yery  hour you gel a ten minute break, so what the
hall. ¥T'm going te smoke! You're damn right T'm going
to smoke! It was uobelievable!

That 's  commendable that you pulled yourseld togoether
and knew snough not to keon doiong it.

Wall, T don't think T ¢ould have. Physically, T don't
think T could have kept up, I mean. Booze was choap.
Food was cheap. Evervihing was cheap. I lived in a
hotel, expense free. I got my Army pay. I got over-

SEA3  DPAY. I got combat pay, and because we ate and
lived in heotels, T gobt cost of Living pay. I was
pulling down three times ny normal salary. My wife,

who Tknew whalt T made was surprised because T started
sending home 1like $100 ox $150 or even sometimes, $200
a month.

That's o lot of monay.

And bhack then, it was a tremendous amount of nmoney. X
think when T got back from Vietnam we had two thousand
doellarvs 1o the bank. T don't tthink we have two thou-
sand dollars in the bank teday. But, back then you

could have bought a new oar for two thousand dollars.
Exactly.

That was 1966, 1967, and that was & hell of a lot
money.

Back then, yes.

But, then like T sald, T quit drinking Tto excess.
Wonen woere another nroblem. I had recently married so
T was okay, true blue, stralght arrow, but vou could
get a progbtitute for two deollars for whalt they call

short time. You could goet a girl all aight for fifteen
dollaza.

Long tinme?

Long  time! You could get anvthing vou wanted. There

was nothing that you c¢ould not buy, drugs. . I

didn't knoew anything bkecause we're talking »unk kid,
hick from OQhio. T knew nothing. But marijuana, and
hashish and oplum, they soeld on the straets.

Really?

The Vietnamese peeple didn't care much  about  that.
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What T would c¢all a coyolelo dyiver, this is. . . .
¥ou'd think of a guy as a rick shew pulling. . . well,
these guys had bicyeles with sests attached in  front.
And,., ‘They would call them cyclelos. And, for fifty
vents they'd pedal your bult all over Lown. Well,

"thege guys would get tremendous paing in the legs, T

could Hdust tell. Cramps. Theyv'd stop at =2 little
sidewalk thing and huy a lititle thing of hashigh or
opium, samoks  it, get back on their thing, =and  pedal
offf. You know, this is how they survived. This is how
they lived. Bubt, drugs were commop. Drugs were veadi-
1y available. The big city kids knew all aboul then.
I didn't know anything about them. But the Army, at
three o'cloek in the wmorning, they'd coms in and have a
raid on your room.

Really?

Dunp  vour footlocker outl, tear all vour stuflf  apart,

looking for drugs. ow, if vou had drugs, of couvses,
loo] e drug w by had drug of 1B
vou understceod that. But, just havassmeni, that's all

T thought it was, Just plain ordinsry bavesasmont.

That's surprising. T theounght maybe they'd  bo
lenient over there or leave yvou alone =2 0 little bit
move, hul they Aidn’' 7

YT

-~y
i

Wall, vyou would think mo. My wife, on oury honoymoon,
bought me & pockeld Enife, a rather larvge, aboult 3

inches  long. Tt had a little leather case, I was
going into Vietinan, a gombat zmone, and T wanted o
knife. Tha first day in Viebnanm, thoy took it off of
we and made me put Lt dn the weapons rooem. Todidn't

gea it agaln until ny last day.
And, they gave it bhack to you?
Then, they gave it back to me. T Love the Army.

T ogan tell! Harold, the images thalt you took with you,
vou know, toe Vietnaw--what you thought about and kept
vou gaing-~when vou came home, how were they different
from what vou had imagined them to khe, and sort of
how-—-yvou didn't really expect them to change--but, how
did they change?

Wot  asg much ag you might think. I can sgee where tho
gueastion is pointing, bulb no, T didn't have a lol  of
problems. The only thing that stuck in ny wmind as a
real surprise, when T gobt back, was how much my  father
had aged.

Really?

Yes.,  Whether T had vever leooked at him, end 1 don’t
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know that T ever 4id. You never look at  vour dad.
put, when T got off the plane and landed in Pltisburgh,
and  Bonnic and my mother and father were waiting fox
me, my dad looked old.

N

d

ha?

Now, at that time, he aoust have been around f£ifty, I
would guoess. And, noit old, but ha looked old. He
looked gray. He looked old. He looked frail. When I
went away, 1 was a kid, and he was sy dad. T guess

when T came back, I'm the man, and he's the old man.
But, t{hat Dbotheved me. After T vame back, T had =
problem in that ¥ was still under the impression in ny
mind that I had done s good thing. I thoughl, as ny
father and his brothers would have, World War TI5 genei-
ation. You got called. You served. You did the best

you  could. You pult up with the shit., You did what
they asked you. It was an honorvable thing that you had
done, Then tThe trouble started bhecanse wmwmy friecnds,

most of whom were g£111 in college-—they weren't exact-
1y ecalling me baby-killer, but let's face 1t-—they
were toltally opposed o the woar., The media was totally
opposad to the war, T4 became a very diffioult asitus-
tion then, because vou thought you'd done an honorable

thing. ¥ou  thought vou had done the hest that wyou
could, If  in fact it wag & dighonoralble war, if in

fact it was wrong, yvou could take any onosition  vou
want, but yvou eilthor were the fool--thay foolcd wvou,
tricked vou into serving in a dishonoraeble cause——on
you  could have gone complotely overhoard and got  on
their gide and say, "Yes it was bad.” Remembar  thea

Yes.,

With Ron Coviak? Ron Covick and T were exactly the
sama. When T wazs a kid, T plaved Army. And, T wanted
o merve. T owas gung-ho, Just Llike him in the movie,
and T grew up. Duit, he goit shot. And, he golt para-
lyzed, and it epbittered him. And, he was then, total-
1y opposaed to the war. T'm not. T =still think the war
was an honorable thing. We were trying te Jdo the vight

thing. We didn't do a very good Job at it. We didn't
aall the public before we fought the way, but they did

an adrirable job in NDessert Storm, sec. They sold the
war, and thoen, they had the treoops go in, sec. We did
it the other way, and it didn't work ocut. Ron Covick
logst hias faith. Now he's very bitter, but 7 don't kunow
how wmuch of that had te do with the war or the facl
that he was payalyzed. I don't know., In the begioning
of that movie, T recognized myself., That's the kind of
kid T wag. We were all geoing to grow up and Jeoin the
Army and go kill the bhad guys. Bub, he lost his faith.
I never did losoe mine. Bub, it was awfully tough for a
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long ftime. and what happened was, vyou Just simply
didn't talk abouvt if{. M"Where vou been? I used to
say, "Well, T was in the Army. T was in Vietnam." Oh,
hell, T don't sey that anymore, yvou Enow.

Really?

Yes, 1T was away, you know. "Where you Dbeen?" "Oh,
just aveund,

¥You evaded everyithing.

Yeg, there's no point in talking about it because if he
was a hawk, pro war which we called hawks, we were
fighting the war all wrong. If they were anti-war,
then we were all baby killers, and we wore worse than
the scum of the eavth. 8o, there was Jjust no way. . .
vou couldn't talk to anybody about it. So, you didn't
talk teo anybody. T had nothing fto cry about. T nmsan,
T hadn't been in combat, I hadn'i been shot. T hadn't
heen killed. Thev took a vear of my life. Two years,
when  you count the tobtal time in the Axnmy, but  they
took a yvear of my life, stuck me in a very unpleasant
gituation. T did the hest T ceould with it.

Come back end let you get on with your 1ife?

Yoah. That's all T 4id, vou know. Bub, T wish they
had done a betier Job on the war., T really wish they
had heacause we have the gtamp of loser. My nparents

generation. . . There's a stigma that we lost the war,
and T don't think that's true. Although the Vietna-
mese, to give them credit, were a good people, even the
North Viehnamese. They turned oul to be much better
fighters and much more dedicated than the South Vietna-
nese. But, T honestly belicve we could have won that
way bhecause we never lost any battles. How  the hell
can  you  lose a war when vou never iost any hattlies?
But, I suspect we lost the war on the six o'clock naws
with Walter Creonkite, After TET, Walter, who was a bit

of a hawk, hed turned the other wov. He  thought,
"Well, now we can't win this war."” and, we [lkicksad
their asses at TET. We kicked their amsses all over the
country., But, in our minds, in the minds of Anmerican

peopls, we  had lomt. And, once that feeling, you
know. . . . I don't know if yvou've ever been in a Fist

Fight, Dbuf when vou think vou've lost, you hava. It's
Over. And, no matter whait happens from That point

on. . . . Bo, abt some point there, yvou know, we lost
the wav. And, it's such a shame becausce 1t waz such &
sacrifice, A trewmendovs sacrifics. And, we're sbill
paying. We're still paving today., Thal's a shame.

How 4id you adapt to the changes, and what methods dJdid
you use and found succezsful in yvour adaptations?
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After I camc back?
After yvou came back.
Avoidancge.
Avoidancon.

That was all. That was okay. Again, T had no hang

DS . T didn't kill any babies. I didn't sece wmy bost
friend blown up. I didn't get shot at and crap =@y
pants. T mearn, nonge of thesze things happened to ne.

"o, there are vetoran's organizations out  there now,
Vigtnan Veterans of Columbiana County. IT've never bheen
to cene of their meetings, and I'm never going to go Lo
ong of their meetings. Becausge, I don't feel that wy

gacrifice was worthy of any special nohte. Thers  was
probably, what, three or four million guvs who sarved

in that war. Sixty thousand got killed. That's teryi-
ble, but thait's not very many. AaAnd, another half a
million probabkly got weoupnded. I heard a story, 1ts nol
nmy original idea, but. . . it's like an onlon, perhaps.
There's all these different lavers. The guys who never
gerved din the military feel gullty because they feol
like they ducked something. The guys thal served in
the military, but didn’'t go to Vietnanm, TFocl guilty.
The guys that went to Vieinam, but d4dida’t serwve in
combat, feel guilty. The guys that served in combatl,
but never got wounded, feel guilty. The guys that got

wounded and didn't get killed, they feel guilty. So
apparently, the only ones who are happy are the poor
doad sonsg of bitches who are on the wall, I don't

know.
T know people like that. That's a real geood point.

T say, everybody feels guilty except the guys who died,
and they wish to hell they could come back and feel
guilty, I'm sure. So, T mean, it's just like, unless
you goet killed, you didn't do yvour best or something.
I don't know.

Tt's an anustal phenomenon, but it's & weality.

But, sce everybody vou talk to. . . . I fesl had. ¥
didn't sarve In combat, I'm nol & crazed Vietnam Vei.
But, vou talk to a crazad Vietnam Vet, and he knows he
feols guilty ahout something. Talk to guys who weve in
the Air Force. . . . T have a buddy who gagpenl Tour
years in  the Alr Force, 1965 and 1969, in {foluambus,
Ohilo.

Really?
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Yes, T mean, whalt a sacrifice. When the state of Ohio
passed the Vietnam Veterans bonus, he got more  money
than T 4id.

Did he really?

He got ten dollars a month for every moath of sexvice.
So, he got S$480. T got £20 a month for every month in
Vietnam and $10 a month for every month in the ssrvice.
8o, I got like 8£360. I mean, this guy worked for JC

Penny's  Full-time while he wasg in the Alr Fovce. He
had enough off duty tine that bhe could do hig Alr Foroo

jobh and work full-time for Peuny's. I amean, he nmadse  a
mint working in Columbus for the Air Force serving his

country for four years. T feel like an didiot! Why
couldn’'t T have done somothing smext  like that? T

don’t know. Some people Just fall in holes. o, what
gan you say’?y

That's true. There's some areas of the. . . .

And, he's hig deal with Phar Mor now, would you lilke

a
to intervicw & m?
Ta he really?

Jesus, he doessn't even remembor his Alr Foroo  ¢areer.
ALLl he can remember iz working for Penny's.

Really?

And Ffooling around with thes coeds down on the canpus.
Out ait Rickenbacker.

Ve, Isn't that. . . .

Tt's amaring. That really iz, Thalt was a good one.
Anvway, vou say how Jdid T handle. . . .

The changes, but reslly 1t seems like youy father was
the only shoak.

My mother blames my lack of religious feelings, now, to

Vietnam. She =mays ¥ lost that over there. T don't
kxnow iF T lost that over there or not. RBut, T Jjust
don't attend church, now. T was railsgsed 1in a Qry

strong church. Perhaps she's compensating because, Lf
T had to, 1f =zhe pressed me, I'd blame her for forcoing
we o go when T didn't want to go. And, now [That] T'm
nld  enough to go, T won't go. We'll have Lo zmese  what
happens after she dies, whethevr I go back to church or
not. Something a molhor would only know. Bub, T wont
to work, and that's nothing unusual agaln. We  ware
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poor paoplo. My wife's fTamily had no noney. TE  vou
didn't go get a jok, yvou &idn't live, T mean you Just
worked. You know, T supposce T could have gone Dback
homo  and  spohged on oy pareonts, but  we  dust naver
consider That.

That wasn't our obthic.

Mo, s#o T came back from the Arvmy on November 30, 19867.
That was my last day in the Avmy. I reported to work
Naecembery  4th. . . T was hack to wny old dob at the
Salen News.

frat
i

Lds
L

vou g0 back to the Salam News?

Yes, T felt kad aboul that, but I needed a job. 8o, I
wrote dinto the newspaper. They had to give me my  o0ld
job hack so they booted rfhe kid that had baken my joh.
T worked there Ffor aboult threse months, and thon, I
found another Job. I always felt bad about that.

But, vou were entitied.

T was entitled, and I needed a joh. And  hey, you
know. . . . 8o, my wife and I, wo got an apartment,
and we lived. We began a married 1ife. One of the
other good things--% always usay bad things about  the
Army--~but one of the goeood things was we got fto take
R & R in Hawall.

Did vou rzally?

Which was nice. We never had the money to go back to
Hawaii-~—and Lord knows when we will--but ¥ was a 19
vear old kid. And, I flew from Vieftnam 3Iinto Hawaii.
My wife flew from Ohio oul. We met, spent five or six
davs, wonderful days, scoond honevmoon, and then flew

back, which wasg very hard. This is bettoer than being
gone from home for a whole wvear. T Jdidn't 1like not
getting Lo see her for a whole year so. . . we split

that up nicely. It was about sirg months, so it worked
out real well,

Was 11?7 That's wonderful.

8¢, {that was nice. Now, T supposs I have somebody to
thank, but 1t seemed like a hell of a price Lo pay for
Bawaii .

T agree. You adjusted well when you came back te  your
marvied 1lifs, and yvou went rvight back into the sane
routine?

We:ll, vyou see. T 4did not. know married Tife. We got
married. I was gone. You know, we were married a

23



3

“

by

s

ba]

v

sk

[ex}

in

ia

ta

week, and then, T left.
So, 1t was basically Like newlyweds starbting ooni.

Starting out, starting all over again, and we had soune

monoey  in the hank, which we had managed to savo. S0,
211 din all, 1t wasn't a bad exporioncao, T had no
trauma. T had no nighlmaros. T do dreanm, though not

an much lately. T nsed to dresn a lot that I was back
in  Baigon, hack Lo Vietnan, and trying to  get  howe.
gsonetines the dreams were styange becanuge it's wme here,

Forty veasr old Harold Schramm back in Vieitnam, Jooking
for my old gilrifriend’s house, or something. I don't
know. Very strange. T haven't hed those dreams,

theoy've faded. But, I used to dream a lobt that I was
back there. T'd walke up. T was bacl thera.

And, trying to come home.
And trying to gelt home, waiting to come home.
That's interesting.

But, again, T had no btraumatic experiences. T saw no
onae hurt. T gaw no one die. I wazn't certainly hurt,
IT--nothing bad happened to me. You saw things. You
heard things.

Wasn't it an adjustment to come back to o small town
after being in the large cities, vou know, and the
traveling?

T 1ldiked Saigon. Saigon was a beautiful city, and when
vou gobt a day off--T enjoved my dave off. I wonld go
downtown. We vould walk downtown fyom whers we woro.
T was a rich man in Vietnam.

I guess.
IF T had 8520 or 230 in my pocket. . . there was nothing

that T couvldn't buy. 8o, we'd go inte a little TFrench
regtaurant, I'd ordey something to drvinl., Tt was Just

wonderful, T mean, that part of 1t T liked. And I
liked the Vietnamese people. I'd ftaken a couple vears
of  high school French, =o I could falk a 1ittle. We

could conversoe,
In Frengh?

In French, and I had learned as much Vietnamese as 1
counld. T liked, you know, fto talk to peoople, and they
always enjoved that when vou ook the trouble to Lry to
learn their language. . . . I'd say, I got along very
well with the Vietnamesse peonlo.
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The peoplce that vou were with in Saigon, you know, the
military opceople, did you notice that they trested the
Vietnanese with respect? Orx, were they more wude and
disrespectfinl to them?

Oh, terribly disrespectiul. We used to-—I used to tell
the story--we'd pick up the paper, Stars g Btripes.
"WC Terrorist Attack, Grenads Thrown Into a Bar on Tudo
Strect. " T oused to langh., I thought then. . . .
"Wobody knows whalt's really happened.” But, T've got &
pretity  good didea whaet happened. Two GI's jumped in o
cyvelele or a cab, and said, "Take us down t{to Tudo
Strect.” Where all the whores and prostitutes, and
brothels and bars were. And, when they gebt there,
they'd stiff the driver. They wouldn't pav. Thoy just
got out. So the guy, he Ijust went down the street. It
was vory easy Lo get a grenade in a way country, and he
just went back and throw a grenade in the placo. T
mean, thera's nothing to it. Theve's no mysteory here.
There's no VC Lervorist attacks.

No war going on, so to =spoak!

No, T mean, you sSOrew somne guy over, hoe's going to get
Qven. I can remember going down town, looking for
sonaething, shoe polish, clgarettes, all the stuff
we should have had in the PX wasn't there. It wams 1
out on  the black market so vou'd have fo go buy it

there. aut, I was walking along, and it's crowded As
hell. And, something is Jjabbing me in the back. T

turn arvound, and here's a Vietnanesze Soldicy, an  ARVH.
And, he's gobt a whole thing of grenades hanging on his
helt. And, these grenades arve Jabbing wme in the back.
Well, bhell, T could have given this guy Tive bucks, and
he would hove gilven me all thoe armorment he  had. He
wouldn't have cared.

You could have gone and doune the same thing.

Yos, T could have blown up my captain or my sergeant,
or anvbody. 8o I'm gayviang, it wasn't very difificult to
get a hold of those things. There were guys that Jid
not  smoke, who bought their ration of clgarettes, and
they went down To the bDlack market and scld them. For
an Amarican greenback, this ig ancother thing. The Army
didn't trust yvou with Anmerican money. They tLlook our
good money off of us and gave us military wmoney, which
wasn't worth shit. But, they took our good money
away. You take a twenty dellar American greenback down
to the black market, you could get perhaps $100 Vietna~
mese  Ffor Ait, oh veah! You know, like I smav, women,
drugs, booze, anything imaginable is available if vou
had  the mopey. T onjoved fzeling rich. T ook a lot
of pictures.

Nid vou take a lot of pictures?
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Oh, yvos. But again, I never went outside of Saigon. I
always fault mysell for thal. We gobt a Jeep one day,
and we weroe oul riding around. And, we ran  into  an
Army  read bhlock, a Vietnamese Army, and they gonldn't
gpaak Hnglish. And, we <ouldn'lt speak much Vietboaamese.

We finally ended the conversation., They were pointing
the way we were goling and sald, "VC." And, they poinit-
ed the other way, and saild, "Saigon.” o, we sald
"okay." Wo turned avound and went bank.

Knew which way to go real guick.

Yes, but, vou kpow. T got a chanecs to fly up norih to
vigit the Montenyvaxrds. They are the Vietnamese Indi-~
ANS . We have aborigines in American, but the HMonten-—
yvards were, are bthe indigencus peopls in Vietnam, They
don't come out of the mountains. And, this missionary
chaplain organized a trip up there. We were to flvy in
a helicopter up Lo the mountains and vigii this vil-
lage. It was like two weeks before I was schedulsd o
leave  the country, and T c¢hickened out., T said, "No
way  in hell awm T getting on that plane and flyiog up
north.”

Too close.

Well, 4t was just, wasn't smart. T Just wouldn't do
it. T alwave took the zafe coursse.

You werg better off.
Oh, sure, but now, T gol Lo carry around this horrible
guilt leoad that T could have went up north and got way

asa ghot off.

And, then you wouldn't have to worry about being guilty
anymore.

That's right!
Well, we discussed yvouvr images of home, and  whalt o o
carried with yvou, and how thoy changod when vou ¢aps

Waok, which was very little.

I think T changed, only Ffrom the standpoint that T grew

up. T left when T was about eighteen, ninetean vears
ald.

You nobiced the difforence in your maturity?

Well, I knew. . . I mean, T knew ncothing. The Army
will grow vou up. Living in a foreign country will

grow vou up. Living on your own will grow  you up.
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Going through & war will grow vou up. So, I think ves.

T fthink =& Jot of things happened to wme  that, you
know. . . wmost of LThenm were good, nol all Lthem, most of
them. S0, T grew up, there's really not  too many

things that happened Lo me.

Lots of g¢good Lhings. Well, is there anybhing else
vou'd like to add that I didn't cover? Is there any-
thing that you fthought ¥ would ask you that I didn t?

I'm glad you had somebhing to preoapl me with, gues-
tiong. T wag afraid T wouldn't have anything to say,
but T guess T shouldn't have worried about that.

You did great, vou really 4id!

T don't know how I can express Lo gomeone listening Lo
this vears Lrom now, how it Felt then. But, it was my
impresgsion that I was middle American, and blue collar,
poor, white., VYou can call it anything yvou want, but we
were middle America. We'd grown up in the heari land.
Wae went teo church. We did what we were told, law
abiding, hard working, and we supported the wer because
we believed in it. We bkelieved what they teld us. And
there, for a while, it looked like we were the bums,
and the heross were the people who went to Canada and
refused to serve. But, they &ll came hack, and whether
it was  an unjusht war or not, T still think T did an
honorabhle thing by doling what I was asked (o do. And,
I wish the hell we had been moyve sguccessful afierward
because T think a lot of uvs are walking around beating
ugy on oursclves becauss we lost. But, T don't have the
answer to that. This, the wore vrveceni events with
Dessert Storm. . . they honored the warrieor, and gon-
demned the war, if you like. You should honor the
warrior. T wish someone had been smart enough to
figure that ont then. Becsuse what we did, whetbher the
war was Jjust oy unjust, right or wrong, we still 4id a
hell of a djob. . . . Fifty-eight thousand guys or moro
guys  died, and I suspecht thousands since, have died,
Not Just the direct result of the war, bul becausc of
the drinking, drugs, suto acelidents, sulicide, rulned
lives after the war. Crisis with all that, and all
the, . . .

You have assimilated well.
What?

I mean, you have assimilated well in the respoct that,
I can look at you as & coworker and say, "Well, Hareold
came bhack, and d4idn't drink himgelf to dealth, Like TJTim
did.™ And, you came back and kept your home and  youw
fapily and yeouy wifo, got a jobh. And, heyre you area
twanty vears later doing a terrific jok.
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$tilt Functioning. T still Ffunction.”
Y,

Again, ¥ didn't suffer &s nuch as the others, and
that's why T say. . . . To mo, when sonebody =mavs,
"Vigtnam Veteran.” T want to say, "Yes! That’'s me."
But, T know that I didn't contyibute. My sacriiices
ware small.

Bul the thing is, yvou still served. And, you did what
you had to do, and you did 1t commendably. and, it
atill hurts thet the world doesn’'t accept that or the
nation doesn't acoepld that even after all this tine.
And, T think that's commendable that you did what vyou
had to do. You came back and got on with wyour life.
And, it’s also commendable that even after all ifhege
vears, it still hurtsas.

The other thing T think is unigque, and this mayboe soma
thing they're going to do in future warsgs, I don't know,
T wenlt over to Vietnam alone, as an individual. Just
ong  person, L didn't go with an outfic., 1 d4idn't go
with my buddiesn. 7T didn't go with sy comrades. T went
cver as  an individual. And, they assigned me to a
replacement center, and T sat  there until sonsebody
grabbod me. And then, I was integrated into a unit
with a bunch of other strangers. aAnd when T cams hone,
T came home alone. There were guyvs that I was scerving
with, vou know, who had months voi fo serwve. So, the
pig thing there was how sherit are yvou? That is to say,
how many days have yvou left in country, and cof course,
when you got there you have 365 days. BAnd, when you

get down to Fifty davs or something. . . "Well, I'm
short. T'm shorti™ That's all you talked about, was
how soon  vou could get back to the world, That, T

think, was port of fthe problem, yvou know. We went ovey
as dndividuals, got assigned to a2 unit, hopefully
became a part of that unit, but then, vou came back as
an individual. And, T don't know how, or what they can
change, bub I think, vou know. . . . OFf coursae, Des-
gert Storm  was saslier. They sent whole units over.
Whole units came back. And, these guys were all pro-
fessional soldiers, too. They Jolined together. We got
drafted. And, guite frankly, I think the Army treated
us with scomewhat contempl, too. They knew we were
cattle or whatever. They Lreated vz Tike that.

But, there is that lonliness factor there, There iz,
That's right. I went over alone and came kack alone.

And like I say, there was no band playving to welcome me
home. And, it wouldn't have been practical, either. I
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maan, there was noe way to welcome me hone. So, your
mother and your father and vour girl were there, and
that's 4it. Thet'zs all was there to see me off. They
were there to welacome me howe, and apparently That's as
good as it's golng Lo ke. I can solace in  the fact
that T didn't bug out. T dida't xun and hide. T did
what they asked mne to do. And, did it very undistio-
guished.

Life goes on, bhut it still was imporbtant. That's the
sad part that wasn't recognized.

T guspect that T'm not a loser.
Wo you're not, Harold.

They used to gay-~T don't know if it's trus--but ithey
took ten men in the rear, in the roar echeslon to  keep
one  ¢guy out on the field. In your front line combkat,
you know at any one time there might have been a half a
million people thore, but T don't think there was ever
more than fifty thousand, sixty thousand guys in  the
field. So, T suppose I am the typical Vietnam Vet
where most of them were not heavy combat veterans.

That's true. T know the ones bthat I'wve interviewed
haven't been. And, the ones that T have set up, you
know after vou, haven'lt been. You know, this 18 tLhe
norm, and this ils what most people don't realize.

Yeah, the public dimage of the Vietnam Vel is sone
crazed killer, But most of them are not. Most of
them arce just ordinary people doing ordinary-typs jobs.

Most of them. Thank vou wvery much for your timo. It
was a very interesting interview.

END OF INTERVIEW
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